

2018



## Daniel Paiva Botto Aleixo

Identificação de cinases reguladoras da VDAC1 mitocondrial das leveduras

# DECLARAÇÃO

Declaro que este relatório é integralmente da minha autoria, estando devidamente referenciadas as fontes e obras consultadas, bem como identificadas de modo claro as citações dessas obras. Não contém, por isso, qualquer tipo de plágio quer de textos publicados, qualquer que seja o meio dessa publicação, incluindo meios eletrónicos, quer de trabalhos académicos.



### Daniel Paiva Botto Aleixo

# Identificação das cinases reguladoras da VDAC1 mitocondrial das leveduras

# Identification of regulatory kinases of the yeast mitochondrial VDAC1

Dissertação apresentada à Universidade de Aveiro para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Mestre em Biologia Molecular e Celular, realizada sob a orientação científica da Doutora Paula Gonçalves, Professora do Departamento de Biologia da Universidade de Aveiro e da Doutora Clara Isabel Ferreira Pereira, Investigadora no Instituto de Inovação e Investigação para a Saúde do Porto.

Apoio financeiro da FCT, do Programa Operacional Temático Fatores de Competitividade (COMPETE) e comparticipado pelo Fundo Comunitário Europeu (FEDER) aos projetos Pest-C/QUI/UI0062/2013, EXPL/DTP-DES/1010/2013 e FCOMP-01-0124-FEDER-041115.



Dedico este trabalho aos meus pais.

o júri

presidente

Prof. Doutor Mário Guilherme Garcês Pacheco Professor auxiliar c/ agregação, Universidade de Aveiro

Doutora Susana Alexandra Rodrigues Chaves Investigadora do Departamento de Biologia da Universidade do Minho

Doutora Clara Pereira Investigadora do Instituto de Biologia Molecular e Celular do i3S

#### agradecimentos

Gostaria de iniciar os meus agradecimentos à Doutora Clara Pereira, minha orientadora durante este trabalho. Muito obrigado pelo apoio constante, dedicação e simpatia, pela paciência assim como o profissionalismo exemplar demonstrado, com o qual aprendi muito.

Gostaria também de agradecer ao Doutor Vítor Costa pela boa recepção no laboratório como também o apoio e criticas voluntárias ao meu trabalho. A agradecer também à professora Paula Gonçalves pela disponibilidade como co-orientadora e pelas reflexões para a elaboração da dissertação.

Quero também agradecer à Telma e ao Vasco pela óptima companhia. Ao Vasco em especial, por todo o apoio, brincadeiras, cantorias e pela forte amizade que formamos que extravasou o laboratório. Muito obrigado pelos passeios, pelas jantaradas e por aguentares todo o meu processo de crescimento neste trabalho!

À Sara e à Isabel, à minha prima e irmã do coração, que sempre me apoiaram desde e acreditaram em mim, pelas noitadas, pelos risos e os consolos em momentos de desmotivação, pelas jogatinas e pelos "aparvalhanços".

Ao Carlos, o meu progenitor secundário pelas cafezadas, pelas conversas de "pai para filho", pelas muitas risadas sarcásticas e pelo carinho e pela enorme amizade.

Ao Paulo, a minha "cria", pelos pep-talks, por me dar na cabeça para me focar, pelos passeios fotográficos analógicos, pelos desabafos, por me escolheres como modelo e pela longa amizade!

Estamos para sempre unidos, somos uma família!

Ao Vítor, por me ensinar que "a coerência está sobrevalorizada" e a centrar-me nas coisas importantes da vida.

Ao Rui, por acreditar em mim e me motivar a ir mais além.

Ao António, pelas dicas de última hora e pela disposição.

Ao Daniel, pelas palavras de encorajamento.

Ao Christoph, por me focar nos momentos difíceis.

Ao Ricardo, pelo apoio e pelas imensas aventuras históricas.

Aos muitos amigos que também me acompanharam neste processo: ao Paulo, ao Ricardo e ao Nuno, ao David, à Filipa, Armando, Sérgio, à Inês e

à Juliana, ao Rafael, ao Capitão. Obrigado pela força e o crer em mim.

Aos meus pais, Dalila e Renato, e ao meu irmão Miguel e a minha cunhada, Daniela. Aos meus pais especialmente - sem vocês simplesmente não conseguiria chegar até aqui! Obrigado pelo apoio incessante, principalmente por acreditarem em mim.

A todos vocês, um sincero muito obrigado.

#### palavras-chave

Mitocôndrias, Por1p, cinases, fosforilação, sinalização, respiração.

#### resumo

O canal aniónico dependente de voltagem (VDAC) é um canal tipo poro que atravessa a membrana externa da mitocôndria. O VDAC tem um papel essencial no metabolismo mitocondrial, mediando a troca de metabolitos essenciais para a respiração, produção de energia e crescimento celular. Em mamíferos, a probabilidade de abertura do canal VDAC pode ser regulada por modificações pós-traducionais como a fosforilação. Nas leveduras, o papel da fosforilação na fisiologia da VDAC1/Por1p e as cinases reguladoras são ainda desconhecidos. Deste modo, o objetivo deste estudo incide sobre a identificação de cinases reguladoras do Por1p, e a avaliação do seu papel na função mitocondrial e na fisiologia celular.

Para identificar as cinases reguladoras, mutantes deficientes em 15 cinases (selecionadas de acordo com a função ou localização mitocondrial) foram avaliados em relação ao ponto isoelétrico (pl) do Por1p, através de um 2D SDS-PAGE seguido da imunodeteção do Por1p. Dois mutantes deficientes nas cinases Hog1p e Rim15p, apresentaram uma alteração no pl do Por1p, compatível com a falta de fosforilação, sugerindo que estas cinases poderão ser potenciais reguladores do Por1p. Para reforçar estes resultados, alguns fenótipos foram analisados, tais como o crescimento, consumo de oxigénio, indução de autofagia/mitofagia, resistência ao calor ou stress oxidativo, para avaliar possíveis interações genéticas entre o POR1 e a cinases identificadas, indicativo de uma relação funcional. Foi observado que a ausência de HOG1 interfere com o crescimento do por1A em condições fermentativas, com a indução de mitofagia e resistência ao stress oxidativo. Na ausência de RIM15, o crescimento em condições fermentativas, consumo de oxigénio, o fluxo e a indução autofágica e a indução mitofágica são afectados no mutante por1Δ. Estes resultados apoiam a hipótese das cinases Hog1p e Rim15p serem reguladoras do Por1p, sendo que mais estudos serão necessários para confirmar se esta esta regulação é directa.

A identificação das primeiras cinases reguladoras do Por1p será um importante avanço no conhecimento da regulação do Por1p/função mitocondrial por vias de sinalização metabólica.

#### keywords

Mitochondria, Por1p, protein kinases, phosphorylation, signaling, respiration.

#### abstract

The voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) is a conserved porin ion channel located on the outer mitochondrial membrane. VDAC plays an essential role in mitochondrial metabolism as it mediates the exchange of metabolites essential for respiration, energy production and cell growth. In mammalian cells VDAC opening probability can be regulated by post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation. In yeast, the role of phosphorylation in VDAC/Por1p physiology and the regulatory kinases are still unknown. Therefore, the focus of the present study is to identify Por1p regulatory kinases, and evaluate its impact on mitochondrial function and cellular physiology.

To identify Por1p regulatory kinases, 15 kinase-deleted mutants (selected based on kinase function or mitochondrial location) were screened for alterations in Por1p isoelectric point (pl), by 2D SDS-PAGE followed by immunoblot using an antibody against Por1p. Two strains among these, lacking Hog1p and Rim15p, exhibited a shift in Por1p pl compatible with lack of phosphorylation, suggesting these kinases may be Por1p regulators. To reinforce these result, several phenotypes such as growth, oxygen consumption, autophagy/mitophagy induction, resistance to heat or oxidative stress, were evaluated to assess genetic interactions between POR1 and the identified kinases, indicative of a functional relationship. It was observed that absence of HOG1 interferes with por1 $\Delta$  growth in fermentative conditions, mitophagy induction and oxidative stress resistance. Absence of RIM15 interferes with  $por1\Delta$  growth in fermentative conditions, mitochondrial oxygen consumption, autophagy flux and induction and mitophagy induction. These results support Hog1p and Rim15p as Por1p regulators, but future work will be needed to confirm them are direct regulators of Por1p phosphorylation.

Identification of the first Por1p regulatory kinases in yeast will be an important advance on the understanding of the regulation of Por1p/mitochondrial function by metabolic signalling pathways.

# Contents

List of Figures
List of Tables
Abbreviations
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Mitochondria6
1.2. Voltage-dependent Anion Channel (VDAC)7
1.3. VDAC regulation by post-translational modifications11
1.4. Hog1p and Rim15p kinases – an overview13
1.4.1. Hog1p
1.4.2. Rim15p15
2. AIMS
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS
3. Yeast strains and plasmids20
3.1. Mutant construction20
3.2. Yeast Transformation21
3.3. Growth Conditions21
3.4. Mitochondrial Isolation
3.5. 2D-gel electrophoresis and immunoblot analysis22
3.5.1. Isoelectric focusing22
3.5.2. Immunoblotting
3.6. Hydrogen peroxide and heat sensitivity
3.7. Oxygen consumption rate and growth in respiratory substrates
3.8. Analysis of autophagy and mitophagy induction
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
4.1. Identification of phosphorylated forms of Por1p
4.2. Screening for kinases with a potential role in Por1p phosphorylation
4.3. Por1p and kinases Rim15p and Hog1p: Genetic Interaction
4.3.1 Growth curve analysis
4.3.2 Mitochondrial function: mitochondrial respiration and growth in a respiratory substrate
4.3.3 Autophagy and mitophagy induction
4.3.4 Stress resistance
5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES
6. BIBLIOGRAPHY
7. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL
Analysis of Por1p pI in cells at different growth phases
Analysis of Por1p pl in different kinase-deleted strains

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic representation of VDAC1 as a crucial channel for a variety of cell
signals8
Figure 2: Suggested model of voltage-induced VDAC open/close conformations
Figure 3: Models for the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria10
Figure 4: Protein regulation by phosphorylation12
Figure 5: Role of Hog1p in osmostress response in yeast cells15
Figure 6: Rim15p activity regulated by nutrient sensitive proteins16
Figure 7: Analysis of Por1p phosphorylation27
Figure 8: Modification of Por1p pl in isolated mitochondria from $rim15\Delta$ and $hog1\Delta$ mutants
Figure 9: Analysis of cell growth
Figure 10: Growth assessment in strictly respiratory (glycerol) media
Figure 11: Determination of oxygen consumption rate
Fig.12: Analysis of autophagy induction and flux:35
Fig.13: Analysis of mitophagy induction:
Figure 14: Growth assessment with heat shock
Figure 15: Survival of wt and mutant strains to H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> treatment
Figure S1: Analysis of Por1p pI in cells at different growth phases
Figure S2: Mitochondria from PDS grown cells were isolated from wt and selected kinase-
deleted strains

## List of Tables

Table 1: Por1p residues known to be phosphorylated	13
Table 2: Yeast strains used in this work	20
Table 3: Identification of potential Por1p regulatory kinases by evaluation of pl sh	fts by 2D-
immunoblotting in kinase-deleted strains	28

## Abbreviations

ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CFU	Colony forming units
CKI	Casein kinase I
CKII	Casein kinase II
CytC	Cytochrome C
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
FADH <sub>2</sub>	Flavin adenine dinucleotide reduced
GSK3β	Glycogen synthtase kinase 3 beta
нк	Hexokinase
HOG	High osmolarity glycerol
JNK3	c-Jun N-terminal kinase 3
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCK1	Meiosis and centromere regulatory kinase 1
MOM	Mitochondrial outer membrane
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide reduced
OCR	Oxygen consumption rate
OD	Optical density
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDS	Post-diauxic shift
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
pl	Isoelectric point
POR1	Porin 1
POR2	Porin 2
RIM15	Regulator of Ime2
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
VDAC	Voltage-dependent anion channel
YPD	Yeast peptone dextrose
YPDA	Yeast peptone dextrose agar
YPG	Yeast peptone glycerol

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1. Mitochondria

Mitochondria are double-membrane organelles present in nearly all eukaryotes (1). It is widely accepted that these organelles are descendants of an endosymbiont protobacteria that became settled in a host cell. Consistently with this hypothesis, mitochondria exhibit their own genome and have the ability to self-replicate (2), but some mitochondrial proteins are encoded by nuclear DNA. Mitochondria are central players in several biological processes, including energy production, stress resistance, lipid metabolism, apoptosis between others.

It is at the mitochondria that cell respiration occurs, an important mechanism in energy production from food and nutrients. During the glycolysis process, pyruvate is converted to acetyl-coA, which in turn participates in the Krebs cycle inside the mitochondria, producing NADH and FADH<sub>2</sub>, which is then used by enzymes located in the mitochondrial inner membrane to produce adenosine tri-phosphate (ATP) (4). In these reactions, electron transfers occur to promote production of free energy (ATP). This free energy it is then used to pump protons that activate ATP synthase for ATP synthesis (3). This process is known as oxidative phosphorylation and it happens in the matrix of the mitochondria.

In our model organism, the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, when glucose is limiting or lacking, the cell enters the respiratory phase, also known as the post-diauxic phase, in which the ethanol produced during fermentation will react with oxygen (consumed during this phase), releasing water,  $CO_2$  and free radical species such as the superoxide radical,  $O_2^-$  (5).

Therefore, these activities promote oxidative stress, since the energy production affects redox equilibrium, with the activity of electron transport chain, the release of ATP and the production of free radical species, especially the reactive oxygen species (ROS) (6). Mitochondria shows a variety of factors and proteins that regulate oxidative stress, such as cytochrome c or the c-Jun N-kinase (JNK) that promote redox equilibrium and also some transcription factors such as Rtg1/Rtg2/Rtg3 system, that recruit protein kinases such as Hog1p and regulate the TOR pathway (7) to promote homeostasis.

Mitochondria are also essential for the synthesis of pyrimidines and purines, contribute to the synthesis of heme, regulation of nitrogen balance through the urea

cycle, production of ketones and are key regulators of the apoptotic program in mammals (8).

Since mitochondria are fundamental for cell homeostasis, damages to mitochondria's functions will lead to pathological states and even cell death. To avoid further damages to the cell, mitochondria can be eliminated by autophagy or mitophagy, if the energy cost of maintaining them is superior to their effective metabolism (9,10).

Autophagy is an important process in which the cell ensures homeostasis by eliminating superfluous, damaged or harmful organelles, including mitochondria, and cytoplasmic compounds. This process initially involves the engulfment of compounds to be discarded in a double membrane vesicle and consequent transport to the lysosome or vacuole to be degraded and recycled. Thus, autophagy allows counteracting mostly the lack of nutrients, but also internal and external stress conditions (11,12). Mitochondria can also be selectively eliminated by mitophagy, when an accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria can lead to a compromised cell growth and even cell death (10). Mitophagy has been described to occur when dysfunctional mitochondria show signs of high energy cost maintenance to the cell (10,12).

There is also emerging evidence of the involvement of mitochondria in multiple other processes such as cytoskeleton organization and microtubule network remodelling (13–15).

Morphologically, mitochondria are dense and double membrane-enclosed organelles, with a mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) and an inner membrane (MIM), each one with distinct composition and proprieties. The inner membrane houses the respiratory chain and the ATP synthase held in the cristae, which are prolongations of the mitochondrial inner membrane into the matrix. In the MIM there are present the translocases of the inner membrane (TIM). The outer membrane shows a balance between lipids and protein in its constitution, exhibiting, among others, the translocase of the outer membrane (TOM), and the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC), as important channels for mitochondrial function (14,16). Their permeability is also different, the outer membrane presenting a higher permeability to ions and macromolecules than the inner membrane (17).

#### 1.2. Voltage-dependent Anion Channel (VDAC)

The existence of channels in the MOM has been evidenced by electrophysiology and electron microscopy during the 1970s, presenting the MOM as the interface between the cytosol and the mitochondrial spaces. It separates the organelle from its environment and act as selective barrier to the entry and exit of metabolites, water and ions (17,18).

Permeation through the MOM is believed to be based in a MOM protein called VDAC (also known as mitochondrial porin), which forms a voltage-dependent, anionselective channel (19,20). In mammals, three isoforms of VDAC are described: VDAC1, VDAC2 and VDAC 3 (21,22), with VDAC1 being the major form. In the eukaryote model used in this study, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, two isoforms of VDAC are expressed, named Por1p and Por2p. Por1p is the major porin in yeast MOM while Por2p is less expressed and is not essential for the permeability of the mitochondria (23).

VDAC exhibits an essential role in mitochondrial metabolism, participating in the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation, flux of metabolites, intracellular redox status, energy generation and cell growth and survival (Fig. 1).



Figure 1: Schematic representation of VDAC1 as a crucial channel for a variety of cell signals. This scheme was reproduced from Shoshan-Barmatz and Mizrachi, 2012 (25).

The prototypal VDAC exhibits one  $\alpha$ -helix and 19  $\beta$  strands that result in a pore with an estimated internal diameter of 2.5 nm (26,27). VDAC depends on the mitochondrial membrane potential to define its conformational state. When the VDAC-pore is at a zero-transmembrane potential, it remains in the open state, enabling the flux of anions, such as ATP/ADP, between the mitochondria and the cytosol. When the

membrane voltage increases beyond 30 mV, the inversion of ion selectivity in VDAC occurs on one side of the channel, by translocation of a region of the VDAC channel, designated as voltage sensor region that encompasses part of the  $\alpha$ -helix, towards the outside of the channel, resulting in a reduction of VDAC diameter, compromising the flux of some metabolites, especially ATP and ADP (Fig. 2) (26,28,29).

Although ATP presents 0.48 nm of diameter, compared to the 0.9 nm of VDAC closed state, the altered charge inside VDAC inhibits its flow. In addition to ATP, the flux of several molecules crucial for the oxidative phosphorylation pathway (NADH, NADPH, succinate, pyruvate, phosphate, etc.) is also inhibited when the VDACs pore is closed, leading to destabilization of the mitochondria, endangering the cell survival (30). VDAC, besides controlling the influx of oxidative phosphorylation substrates, controls the efflux of the ATP produced in mitochondria, avoiding its accumulation in the mitochondrial matrix that could block the oxidative phosphorylation (31).



**Figure 2: Suggested model of voltage-induced VDAC open/close conformations.** The dynamic changes in VDAC, influenced by the variation of the mitochondrial membrane potential, affect the selectivity and conductance of anions and of cations. This scheme was reproduced from Shoshan-Barmatz et al, 2003 (32).

VDAC has also been shown to allow the release of mitochondrially-produced superoxide radicals ( $O_{2^{-}}$ ) to the cytosol, controlling intramitochondrial  $O_{2^{-}}$  levels. Reactive oxygen species can induce cell damage, but some species have been found to have an important role as intracellular signals (33–35). Hence, VDAC closure provides a simple and flexible mechanism of decreasing release of  $O_{2^{-}}$  that, although promoting intramitochondrial oxidative stress, spares this stress in the cytosol (36,37).

VDAC also takes part in the redox regulation of expression and activity of several proteins such as those involved in protein import into mitochondria and antioxidant

enzymes. Absence of VDAC in yeast has been shown to affect levels of nuclear transcripts sensitive to changes in the intracellular redox state, including nuclear transcription factors related to stress (e.g., Msn2, Msn4) as well as transcription factors involved in communication between mitochondria and the nucleus (Rtg1, Rtg2) (35,38,39). Thus, in addition to regulating the metabolic and energetic functions in mitochondria, VDAC is involved in the communication between mitochondria and the rest of the cell.

In mammals, VDAC also appears to play an important role in apoptosis induction, with at least three major hypothesis described (Fig. 3): i) the permeability transition pore (PTP) model establishes that opening of the PTP, which contains VDAC and the adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT), increases permeation of the MOM, increasing flux of water and metabolites towards the mitochondria and leading to swelling and rupture; ii) another model focus on VDACs defective closure, which inhibits normal exchange of ATP/ADP leading to swelling and rupture of the mitochondria and later to cell death; iii) the third model proposes VDAC as an anchor for pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bax (40). In yeast, it was shown that cells lacking Por1p are sensitive to apoptotic stimuli, suggesting that Por1p acts as a negative regulator of cell death (41).



Figure 3: Models for the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria. During the process of apoptosis, cytochrome c is released from mitochondria into the cytosol. These models represent

some theories that might lead to cell death involving VDAC. This scheme was reproduced from Martinou et al. 2000 (40).

Because of VDAC vital roles, a dysfunction in VDAC regulation has been associated to the development of some cancers and neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (24). Thus, understanding VDAC regulation will help to define strategies to prevent or attenuate the development of such diseases (25,42,43).

#### 1.3. VDAC regulation by post-translational modifications

Various types of post-translational modifications (PTMs) of VDACs have been reported, although their impact on channel function and consequently on mitochondrial function is not well understood. PTMs increase the functional diversity of the proteome by the covalent addition of functional groups to proteins. These modifications include phosphorylation, glycosylation, ubiquitination, nitrosylation, methylation, acetylation, lipidation and proteolysis and influence almost all aspects of normal cell biology and pathogenesis (44).

Reversible protein phosphorylation is regulated by kinases and phosphatases and is one of the most common mechanisms of metabolic modulation (44). Protein phosphorylation occurs mainly on serine, threonine and tyrosine residues, and is one of the most important and well-studied post-translational modifications, being commonly known as an on/off mechanism for various cellular processes (45). Phosphorylation can affect protein catalytic activity (it can be activated or deactivated), turnover, subcellular localization or interaction with proteins that have structurally conserved domains that recognize and bind to phosphomotifs. Phosphorylation plays a vital role on the regulation of cell growth, transcription of genes, protein synthesis, metabolism and signaling (46– 48) by affecting proteins in several ways (Fig. 4).



**Figure 4: Protein regulation by phosphorylation**. Phosphorylation can affect protein activity, subcellular localization, protein turnover and protein interactions, induce conformational changes, and regulate other post-translational modifications. This scheme was reproduced from Humphrey et al. 2015 (49).

According to some reports, phosphorylation of VDAC by cytosolic kinases may be involved in its regulation. To date, a few mammalian kinases have been described as regulating VDAC. Never-in-mitosis A related kinase 1 (Nek1), cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C (PKC) and glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3 $\beta$ ), p38 and c-Jun N-terminal kinase 3 (JNK3) have been reported to regulate VDAC gating (50– 52) and binding to other proteins such as hexokinases I and II (HKI and HKII) and tubulin (53–55).

Through co-immunoprecipitation tests and mutagenesis assays, it was demonstrated that these regulatory kinases interact with VDAC, having some of its effects been already described. GSK3β, PKA, Nek1 and PKCs have been reported to phosphorylate VDAC Ser12, Ser103 and Ser193 residues, which are located at crucial sites on VDAC. The phosphorylation of these sites have an impact on VDAC configuration, modulating VDAC conformation state leading to a closed state, therefore, preventing apoptosis (56). Some of these regulatory kinases also promote the binding of tubulin and HK to VDAC (57,58). However, GSK3β also been reported to increase opening of VDAC via Thr51 phosphorylation, leading to sensitization to cell death (58).

GSK3-β showed effects on VDAC binding to both tubulin and HK, being activated when there is mitochondrial dysfunctions, promoting apoptotic activity with the detachment of HK from VDAC, since HK bound to VDAC maintain this channel closed to prevent further apoptotic activity, leading to VDAC open state (59). The phosphorylation of VDAC-Ser193 is known to be affected by Nek1, altering VDAC conformation to a closed state, preventing the leakage of cytochrome c, thus, preventing cell death (56).

Other studies pointed out p38 kinase and JNK3 as potential VDAC1 regulatory kinases. Still not well defined, it is known that p38 affects indirectly VDAC phosphorylation on a tyrosine residue, in response to stress (60). JNK3 is thought to phosphorylate two VDAC1 residues, Ser104 and Ser137, possibly affecting VDAC conformational state, but no regulatory function was attributed yet (61). Other VDAC1 phosphorylated residues and their possible regulatory protein kinases have been reported but their physiological effect have not been determined (62–65).

Some of the kinases that may regulate mammalian VDAC1 have homologs in yeast, such as GSK3 (Mck1p homologue) (66,67), p38 and JNK3 (Hog1p homologues) (68) and PKA (Tpk1/2/3p homologues) (69). However, although yeast VDAC/Por1p is phosphorylated (Table 1), the role of these modifications and the regulatory kinases are unknown.

 Table 1: Por1p residues known to be phosphorylated. Location of the aminoacid in

 the Por1 protein is indicated. Adapted from Phosphogrid registry (84)

Location	Residue	Sources
2	S	(51,54)
91	Т	(87)
100	Т	(87)
103	Т	(51,53)
109	S	(88)
117	т	(51)

#### 1.4. Hog1p and Rim15p kinases – an overview

#### 1.4.1. Hog1p

Protein kinases mediate signal transduction in eukaryotic cells, being involved in the control of several cellular processes. The yeast Hog1p is a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (homolog of mammalian p38 and JNK3) (70) with a central role in the osmorregulatory signal transduction cascade (HOG pathway), which regulates G1 and G2 cell cycle progression, and cellular ion levels in response to hyperosmotic stress (71– 73) (Fig. 5). Loss of Hog1p activity results in reduced growth on high osmolarity media and abnormal cell and budding morphology (71,74), but the constitutive activation of Hog1p has been shown to be lethal (70).

The Hog1p MAPK also controls a rapid transcriptional response that involves a large number of genes required for cellular adaptation (75). It regulates transcriptional induction by phosphorylating transcriptional factors such as Sko1p, Smp1 Msn2/4 and Hot1p (76–78) and other factors involved in chromatin remodelling and Pol II recruitment (79–81).

Hog1p is also involved in the oxidative stress response, modulating arrest in cell cycle progression and promoting progression of cell cycle when exiting from quiescence (Fig. 5). Most importantly and still not well studied, Hog1p has been described to control the respiratory metabolism (82) since absence of Hog1p resulted in an increase of oxygen consumption, suggesting Hog1p plays a role in the suppression of the respiratory metabolism. Reports have shown that Hog1p is also a specific regulator of mitophagy, participating indirectly in Atg32p phosphorylation and, in a later stage of mitophagy, in the assembly of the mitophagosome (83) and other unknown cytoplasmic substrates (84).



Figure 5: Role of Hog1p in osmostress response in yeast cells. As a response to an increased extracellular osmolarity, Hog1p is activated, stimulating the induction of cytoplasmic and nuclear responses. This scheme was reproduced from Haruo Saito et al. 2012 (85).

#### 1.4.2. Rim15p

Identified as a stimulator of meiotic gene expression, Rim15p is also proposed to integrate signals from various nutrient signalling networks, being one of the most relevant protein kinases in cell proliferation. Regulation of Rim15p activity and localization is dependent of nutrient sensing pathways, such as TOR, Sch9p, PKA and the Pho80-85p kinase pathway. This sensing pathways exhibit sensitivity to nitrogen, sugar and phosphorus status in the cell, promoting cell quiescence when there is lack of these nutrients, showing also sensitivity to various external stresses (86–88), inducing Rim15p activity in both scenarios (Fig. 6). Rim15p is inhibited by TOR1, Sch9p and PKA when nutrients are sensed in the environment. Under nutrient limitation conditions, Rim15p is dephosphorylated and transported to the nucleus, where it regulates Gis1p, a transcription factor that is activated inducing post-diauxic shift (PDS) phase genes, and Msn2/4p that regulate the expression of genes containing stress response elements (STRE) in response to nutrient limitation and stress (oxidative, heat and osmotic) conditions (89). This activity will promote cell quiescence and survival upon lack of nutrients.

A model for Rim15p function has been proposed in which Rim15p coordinates also cell growth (is important for budding index) and the exit of cell cycle to quiescence in response to various sensing pathways (90). Rim15p appears to be relevant for survival and robustness during the stationary phase, in which cells are subjected to prolonged glucose starvation (87,91), promoting non-selective autophagy for ATP recovery and ensuring cell homeostasis (92). Rim15p also regulates oxidative stress responses (90). In stationary-phase cultures, deletion of *RIM15* causes a strongly decreased accumulation of storage carbohydrates and trehalose (89), and reduced thermotolerance and life span (91,93).



**Figure 6: Rim15p activity regulated by nutrient sensitive proteins.** Rim15p integrates signals from various nutrient sensing pathways to different effectors. This scheme was reproduced from Swinnen et al. 2006 (87).

Chapter 2 AIMS

#### 2. AIMS

The voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) is an outer mitochondrial membrane protein at the interface between mitochondrial and cellular metabolisms. VDAC display two states: an open state that allows the passage of anions (e.g. ATP and NADH); and a closed state, associated with an exchange in channel selectivity allowing the passage of cations. In mammals, VDAC activity and interaction with other proteins can be regulated by post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation. In yeast, the physiological relevance of VDAC1/ Por1p phosphorylation and regulatory kinases have not been characterized.

This project aimed to identify VDAC1/Por1p regulatory kinases, using *S. cerevisiae* as a model organism. The evaluation of VDAC1 phosphorylation was assessed by a 2D-immunoblotting procedure, using mitochondria enriched samples from a pre-selected collection of kinase deleted yeast strains.

The impact of the absence of potential regulatory kinases on VDAC1 physiology was characterized by assessing mitochondrial respiratory activity, directly related with VDAC1 activity in vivo, monitored by measuring oxygen consumption and growth in a respiratory substrate. Additionally, fermentative growth, stress resistance (oxidative and thermotolerance) and induction of autophagy and mitophagy, was evaluated.

Chapter 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3. Yeast strains and plasmids

S. cerevisiae strains used in this study are listed in Table 2.

Strain	Genotype	Source
BY4741	Mata, his3Δ1, leu2Δ0, met15Δ0, ura3Δ0	EUROSCARF
tpk1∆	BY4741 tpk1::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
tpk2∆	BY4741 tpk2::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
tpk3∆	BY4741 tpk3::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
yck1∆	BY4741 yck1::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
yck2∆	BY4741 yck2::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
cka1∆	BY4741 cka1::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
cka2∆	BY4741 cka2::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
kkq8∆	BY4741 kkq8::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
slt2∆	BY4741 slt2::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
rim15∆	BY4741 rim15::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
hog1∆	BY4741 hog1::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
mck1∆	BY4741 mck1::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
ypk1∆	BY4741 ypk1::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
sak1∆	BY4741 sak1::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
sch9∆	BY4741 sch9::KanMx4	EUROSCARF
por1∆	BY4741 por1::HIS3	This study
por1 $\Delta$ rim15 $\Delta$	BY4741 por1::HIS3 rim15::KanMx4	This study
por1 $\Delta$ hog1 $\Delta$	BY4741 por1::HIS3 hog1::KanMx4	This study

#### 3.1. Mutant construction

To generate *por1* $\Delta$ ::*HIS3* cells, the *KanMX4* cassette in *por1* $\Delta$ ::*KanMX4* was replaced by *HIS3*, using a deletion fragment containing the heterologous *HIS3* and the flanking regions of *KanMX4*, amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). To delete *POR1* in *hog1* $\Delta$  and *rim15* $\Delta$  cells, the cassette *HIS3MX6* with the flanking regions of *POR1* was amplified from the BY4741 *por1* $\Delta$ ::*HIS3MX6* strain using the primers, *POR1\_*Amp\_Fw (AGTTTAATGGTCAGAATGGGCG) and *POR1\_*Amp\_Rv (GGAGTTTATCACAATGTTCGAAACC) by colony PCR. The reaction mix contained 1x Reaction Buffer (Thermo Scientific), 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> (Thermo Scientific), 0.2 mM sense

primer, 0.2 mM antisense primer, 0.2  $\mu$ M dNTPs (Thermo Scientific), 1 U Taq Polymerase (Thermo Scientific) and the PCR was performed at an annealing temperature of 47°C. All the PCR products were analysed by nucleic acid electrophoresis (using TAE agarose gel). PCR products were purified with Gel Pure (NZYTech) and used to transform yeast.

The correct replacement of *POR1* by the *HIS3* cassette was confirmed by PCR using a primer for *HIS3* (GAATGCTGGTCGCTATAC) and one upstream *POR1* (CGTCATCTTCTAACACCGTATATG), following the already described procedures, at an annealing temperature of 51°C. Absence of Por1p was also confirmed by Western-blotting.

For the analysis of autophagy and mitophagy induction in different strains, yeast cells were transformed with plasmids expressing GFP-Atg8 (pRS416, kindly provided by T. Yorimitsu (94)) and OM45-GFP (pKC2, kindly provided by D. Klionsky (95)), respectively, and selected in minimal medium lacking uracil and leucine, respectively.

#### 3.2. Yeast Transformation

For yeast transformation, the polyethylene glycol (PEG)/lithium acetate method was used (96). Cells were grown in 20 mL of YPD medium to an OD<sub>600</sub>=0.8, harvested, washed and incubated with the transformation mix, containing 240  $\mu$ L of PEG 3350 50% (w/v), 36  $\mu$ L lithium acetate 1.0 M, 25  $\mu$ L single stranded DNA (2.0 mg/ml), 300ng DNA and sterile water to a final volume of 360  $\mu$ L. The cells were incubated at 26°C for 30 min followed by incubation at 42°C for 30 min. Lastly, the cells were centrifuged, washed with H<sub>2</sub>O and plated on selective medium without histidine. A negative control containing the cells and transformation mix without DNA was used.

#### **3.3. Growth Conditions**

Yeast cells were grown at 26°C in a gyratory shaker at 140 rpm, with a ratio of flask volume/medium of 5:1, to logarithmic phase (log) ( $OD_{600}$ =1) or to PDS phase ( $OD_{600}$ =6-10). The growth media used were yeast peptone dextrose [YPD, 1% (wt/vol) yeast extract (Conda Pronadisa), 2% (wt/vol) bacteropeptone (LabM) and 2% (wt/vol) D-glucose (Fisher Scientific), yeast peptone glycerol [YPG, containing 2% (wt/vol) glycerol (NZYtech) instead of glucose] and synthetic complete [SC medium; containing drop-out, 2% (wt/vol) glucose and 0.67% (wt/vol) yeast nitrogen base without amino acids (BD Biosciences)], being supplemented with appropriate amino acids or nucleotides (0.04% (wt/vol) leucine, 0.008% (wt/vol) histidine, 0.008% (wt/vol) tryptophan and 0.008% (wt/vol) uracil). For solid medium 2% (wt/vol) agar (Conda Pronadisa) was added.

#### 3.4. Mitochondrial Isolation

Mitochondrial extracts were prepared based on a previous method (97). Briefly, yeast cells grown to the PDS phase in YPD medium were harvested at 4700 rpm for 10 min and washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O before suspension in digestion buffer [2 M sorbitol, 1 M sodium-potassium phosphate pH 7.5, 0.5 M EDTA, 1% (vol/vol) 2-mercaptoethanol] at a concentration of 10 g cells (wet weight) to 30 mL digestion buffer to 50 mg of zymolyase. Cells were then incubated at 37°C until most of cells have been converted to spheroplasts. The spheroplasts were washed with 1.2M sorbitol and suspended in suspension buffer (0,5 M Tris, pH 7.5, 1 mM EDTA) and lysed using a Douce homogenizer. Afterwards the suspensions were transferred to 2 ml microtubes and subjected to 3 cycles of low-speed/high speed centrifugation (30 min at 2700 rpm; 2 cycles of 15 min at 13300 rpm). The mitochondrial pellet was stored at -80°C. Protein quantification of the mitochondrial extracts was performed using the Lowry method.

#### 3.5. 2D-gel electrophoresis and immunoblot analysis

#### 3.5.1. Isoelectric focusing

To separate proteins by isoelectric point (pl), 35 µg of mitochondrial proteins were suspended in a rehydration buffer [2M Urea, 2M thiourea, 1% Triton X-100 (vol/vol), 1% CHAPS (vol/vol), 0.4% DTT (wt/vol), 0.5% Pharmalyte (vol/vol), 2% ASB (wt/vol), Bromophenol Blue), incubated for 30 min at room temperature with shacking and used to rehydrate an immobiline drystrip (Immobiline ™ DryStrip pH6-11, 7cm, GE Healthcare) overnight. Focusing (IEF BioRad Protean) of the strips, covered with mineral oil (Sigma), was performed, following the described settings: 1. Step and Hold, 300V, 30 min, 0.2 kVh; 2. Gradient, 1000V, 30 min, 0.3 kVh; 3. Gradient, 5000 V, 1h20min, 4.0 kVh; 4. Step and Hold, 5000 V, 25 min, 2.0 kVh.

#### 3.5.2. Immunoblotting

After focusing, the strips were washed with dH<sub>2</sub>O, reduced with 100 mM DTT in equilibrium buffer (6 M urea, 2 % sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.01 % bromophenol blue, 50 mM Tris pH 6.8, 30 % glycerol, 100 ml H<sub>2</sub>O final vol) for 30 min

at room temperature, and alkylated with 260 mM iodoacetamide in equilibrium buffer for 30 min at room temperature.

Then, the strips were washed with  $ddH_2O$ , and proteins were separated in a 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. After blocking with 5% low fat dry milk in TTBS (20 mM Tris, 140 mM NaCl, 0.05% (v/v) Tween-20 pH 7.6), membranes were probed overnight with the primary antibodies anti-por1 (1:6000, Invitrogen A6449) or anti-cytC (1:6000), washed and then incubated for 2h with the correspondent secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase, anti-mouse (1:6000, Santa Cruz sc-2005) or anti-rabbit IgG light chain (1:7000, Sigma 9169).

To probe for phosphorylated proteins, membrane stripping was performed as described in the Abcam protocol. The membrane was washed with TTBS and incubated in a stripping buffer [62.5 mM Tris-HCI pH 6.8, 2% (wt/vol) SDS, 100 mM 2-mercaptoethanol] for 30 min at 50°C. After that, the membrane was thoroughly washed, blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin in TTBS, and probed overnight with the primary antibody anti-phospho S/T/Y (1:3000, Abcam), followed by a 2h incubation with the correspondent secondary anti-mouse (1:3000, Invitrogen G21040). Immunodetection was performed by chemiluminescence, using a kit from GE Healthcare (RPN2109).

#### 3.6. Hydrogen peroxide and heat sensitivity

For the analysis of hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  resistance, yeast cells were grown in YPD to PDS phase and treated with 100 mM  $H_2O_2$  (Merck) for 1h. Cells viability was determined by standard dilution plate counts on YPD medium containing 2% (wt/vol) agar. Colonies were counted after growth at 26°C for 3 days, and viability expressed as the percentage of the colony-forming units (CFUs) of treated cells versus non-treated with  $H_2O_2$ .

For the analysis of heat sensitivity, the same number of cells of each strain was plated in ten-fold serial dilutions into YPD medium containing 2% (wt/vol) agar 2%), and the plates were incubated at either 26°C or 37°C.

#### 3.7. Oxygen consumption rate and growth in respiratory substrates

For the analysis of growth in respiratory substrate, the same number of cells of each strain was plated in ten-fold serial dilutions into two solid agar and glycerol plates.

The plates were composed of YPD or YPG medium containing 2% (wt/vol) agar, and the plates were incubated at 26°C.

Oxygen consumption rate (OCR) was measured in whole cells (1 x  $10^8$  in PBS buffer) grown to an OD<sub>600</sub>=1 and OD<sub>600</sub>=11, using a Clark oxygen electrode. Cells were collected, ressuspended in 1 ml PBS buffer (137 mM NaCl pH 7.4, 2.7 mM KCl, 8 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and 1.46 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) and transferred to the water-jacketed microcell, magnetically stirred, at 26°C. The OCR was measured for 2 min using an Oxygraph system (Hansatech) and data analysed with Oxyg32 V2.25 software (Hansatech).

#### 3.8. Analysis of autophagy and mitophagy induction

Yeast cells were harvested by centrifugation for 3 min at 4,000 r.p.m. (4°C), and ressuspended in 50 mM sodium potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) containing protease inhibitors (Complete, Mini, EDTA free Protease Cocktail Inhibitor Tablets; Boehringer Mannhein) and 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma). Total protein extracts were obtained by mechanical disruption through vigorous shaking of the cell suspension in the presence of zirconium beads for 5 min. Short pulses of 1 min were applied followed by 1 min incubation on ice. Cell debris was removed by centrifugation at 13,000 r.p.m. for 12 min and protein content was determined by the Lowry method, using bovine serum albumin as a standard.

For the immunoblot analysis, 80 µg of the proteins were mixed with Laemmli buffer containing 1% 2-mercaptoethanol and heated at 95°C for 5 min. The electrophoresis was performed on a 15% and 12.5% polyacrylamide gel, for GFP-ATG8 and OM45-GFP respectively. Immunoblotting was performed as described above, using mouse anti-green fluorescent protein (GFP) (1:4000, Roche) as primary antibody and anti-mouse (1:5000, Invitrogen G21040) as secondary antibody.

Chapter 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 4.1. Identification of phosphorylated forms of Por1p

Since the aim of this project was to determine which kinases regulate the yeast Por1p by phosphorylation, it was first necessary to implement a screening assay. It was previously reported that phosphorylation leads to Por1p isoforms with distinct isoelectrical points (pl) (98).To confirm this result, mitochondria were isolated from cells grown to post-diauxic shift (PDS) phase – to induce respiratory phase conditions – and proteins were separated by 2D-gel electrophoresis followed by immunoblotting (2D-immunobloting) using an antibody against Por1p or cytochrome c (as a control). We observed Por1p exhibits three major forms at pl of approximately 8.5 (spot 1), 7.9 (spot 2) and 7.3 (spot 3) and one minor form with a pl of approximately 9 (Fig. 7). To determine if the growth phase affects Por1p pl forms, similar studies were performed using cells grown to log, PDS and stationary phase. Since the results showed no variation of the spots (Supplemental Figure S1), the next studies were performed at PDS phase as Por1p function is more relevant during this growth phase.

Proteins may be subjected to modifications that change the pl both to the acidic pole (e.g., ubiquitination, phosphorylation, acetylation) or to the basic pole (ex sumoylation). To identify Por1p phosphorylated forms, the membrane was reprobed with an anti-phospho-serine, -tyrosine and -threonine (anti-phospho S/T/Y) antibody. It was observed (Fig. 7) that the three main forms of Por1p (1-3) are phosphorylated. As such, alterations in the pl of Por1p were assessed by 2D-immunoblotting to screen for potential Por1p regulatory kinases.



**Figure 7: Analysis of Por1p phosphorylation:** WT (BY4741) cells were grown to PDS phase in YPD medium. Protein phosphorylation was analysed by 2D-immunoblotting, using antibodies raised against Por1p, Cytochrome C (Cyt C; internal control for the first dimension). or anti-phospho S/T/Y. The 3 main Por1p forms were detected as phosphorylated and numbered 1-3 from the highest to the lowest pl.

#### 4.2. Screening for kinases with a potential role in Por1p phosphorylation

Kinases evaluated as potential Por1p regulators were selected based on their mitochondrial localization (70,99,100) and their role in the regulation of mitochondrial function. This screening was based on the premise that, in the absence of a potential Por1p regulatory kinase, Por1p pl is altered (shift to the basic pole) due to the disappearance of the kinase-mediated phosphorylation. As such, 15 kinase-deleted mutants were tested and mitochondria isolated from cells grown to PDS phase (OD<sub>600</sub>~14) samples analysed by 2D-immunobloting (Table 3).

Some kinases selected to this work, namely the catalytic subunits (Tpk1/2/3) of protein kinase A, Mck1p (homolog of mammalian GSK3β) and Yck1/Yck2 (homologues to CKI), have homologues that were previously implicated in mammalian VDAC regulation (62). Yet, in this work, no alteration in Por1p pl was observed in the absence of this kinases/catalytic subunits. Yet, for PKA and for CKI, because the tested mutants may have redundant functions it would be needed to assess Por1p phosphorylation in triple and double mutants, respectively, to exclude this kinases as Por1p regulators. Also, since we performed these studies in PDS phase, PKA might have not intervened, since it is mostly active during exponential phase (88). From the tested kinase-deleted

mutants, only  $hog1\Delta$  and  $rim15\Delta$  cells showed a shift in Por1p pI compatible with a lack of phosphorylation (shift to the acidic pole) (Table 3; Fig 8). Comparing with wild type cells,  $hog1\Delta$  cells showed a shift in Por1p pI of spots 1 and 2, and  $rim15\Delta$  cells showed a shift in Por1p pI of spot 1 (Fig. 8). For the remaining kinase-deleted strains, there were no differences in Por1p pI (Supplemental Fig. S2).

Kinase Name	Mutant	pl shift
cAMP-dependent protein kinase type 1	tpk1∆	No
cAMP-dependent protein kinase type 2	$tpk2\Delta$	No
cAMP-dependent protein kinase type 3	tpk3∆	No
Casein kinase I homolog 1	yck1∆	No
Casein kinase I homolog 2	yck2 $\Delta$	No
Casein kinase II subunit alpha 1	cka1∆	No
Casein kinase II subunit alpha 2	cka1∆	No
Probable serine/threonine-protein kinase KKQ8	kkq8∆	No
Mitogen-activated protein kinase SLT2/MPK1	slt2∆	No
Serine/threonine-protein kinase RIM15	rim15∆	Yes
High osmolarity glycerol response protein 1	hog1∆	Yes
Meiosis and centromere regulatory kinase 1	$mck1\Delta$	No
Yeast protein kinase 1	ypk1∆	No
Sucrose nonfermentating protein-activating kinase 1	sak1∆	No
Serine/threonine-protein kinase SCH9	sch9∆	No

Table 3: Evaluation of Por1p pl shift by 2D-immunoblotting in indicated kinase-deleted strains.



# Figure 8: Modification of Por1p pl in isolated mitochondria from $rim15\Delta$ and $hog1\Delta$ mutants: wt, $rim15\Delta$ and $hog1\Delta$ mutants were grown to PDS phase, in YPD medium. Evaluation of Por1p pl was performed by 2D-immunoblotting.

To confirm that the Por1p pl alteration in *rim15* $\Delta$  and *hog1* $\Delta$  yeast cells was due to absence of phosphorylation and to identify the Por1p phosphorylated residues, mitochondrial fractions from wt and *rim15* $\Delta$  and *hog1* $\Delta$  cells were analysed by mass spectrometry LC-MS analysis, at the Proteomics Facility CBM-SO (Madrid). In wt cells, it was found that Por1p was phosphorylated in two aminoacid residues, T91 and T103, which were already described as phosphorylated sites (101). However, these phosphosites were also found in both *rim15* $\Delta$  and *hog1* $\Delta$  yeast cells, indicating that these residues are not regulated by these kinases. Additional mass spectrometry LC-MS analysis should be performed for the identification of additional residues that are phosphorylated in wt but not in the kinase-deleted mutants, which will indicate the possible regulated sites by these kinases.

#### 4.3. Por1p and kinases Rim15p and Hog1p: Genetic interaction

#### 4.3.1 Growth curve analysis

Some mutations in two genes produce a phenotype that is unexpected in comparison with the mutation's individual effect. These are divided in two types of interactions: negative interactions refer to a more severe fitness defect than expected and positive interactions refer to double mutants with a less severe fitness defect than expected (102). Because a genetic interaction, defined as a deviation from the expected phenotype when combining genetic mutations, can reveal functional relationships between genes, double mutant strains were constructed, namely *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$  and *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$  mutants, and several phenotypes (related with Por1p or Rim15/Hog1p function) were tested.

One of the phenotypes evaluated was cell growth in liquid glucose-medium. No significant growth defects were observed for *por1* $\Delta$ , *hog1* $\Delta$  and *rim15* $\Delta$  single mutants compared with wt, while the double mutant strains exhibited a significant growth defect (Fig. 9A). The growth defect was more evident at log phase (Fig. 9B). In the log phase, a significant growth defect was also observed for *por1* $\Delta$  mutant strain, which reflects the importance of Por1p for cellular growth, since its deletion has been shown to delay growth (23,103). These results show that absence of Hog1p and Rim15p worsen the

growth defects of *por1* $\Delta$  at the respiratory phase indicating a negative interaction regarding this phenotype.



**Figure 9: Analysis of cell growth.** Growth of wt, *por1* $\Delta$ , *hog1* $\Delta$ , *rim15* $\Delta$ , *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$  and *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$  strains was monitored by OD<sub>600</sub> measurements over time: (A) total growth untill early stationary phase; (B) log phase; Values are the mean ± SD (n=3). (A) *p* < 0.001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$ ) (B) *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt *vs por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), *p* < 0.0001 (wt *vs por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ).

# 4.3.2 Mitochondrial function: mitochondrial respiration and growth in a respiratory substrate

Regulation of Por1p opening can affect mitochondrial respiration, since Por1p is the major mediator of the flux of metabolites between the cytosol and the mitochondrial space, such as NADH and ADP essential for mitochondrial respiration (104,105). To evaluate if potential alterations in Por1p phosphorylation due to deletion of *RIM15* or *HOG1* affects mitochondrial function, mitochondrial respiratory capacity was evaluated both by analysing the growth of the strains in respiratory media and by measuring the mitochondria respiration. To evaluate the growth of the strains in respiratory media, the same number of cells was plated in serial dilutions in solid plates containing either glucose as a carbon source (control) or glycerol, a strictly respiratory mediam.



**Figure 10:** Growth assessment in strictly respiratory (glycerol) media. wt yeast (BY4741), the mutant strains  $hog1\Delta$ ,  $rim15\Delta$  and  $por1\Delta$ ), or double mutants ( $por1\Delta rim15\Delta$ ,  $por1\Delta hog1\Delta$ ) were spotted in a ten-fold dilution series, on glycerol (Gly) and glucose (Glu)-based solid medium as control.

In glucose conditions,  $por1\Delta$ ,  $hog1\Delta$  and  $rim15\Delta$  mutant strains showed similar growth in comparison with wild type (Fig. 10). However, both  $por1\Delta hog1\Delta$  and  $por1\Delta rim15\Delta$  double mutants showed a decrease in growth, indicating a possible relationship between Hog1p and Rim15p and Por1p.

In respiratory conditions, it was observed that both  $hog1\Delta$  and  $rim15\Delta$  mutants showed an improved growth (Fig. 10). Since these kinases are described to have inhibitory activity towards respiration (70,106), it was expected to observe such increased growth. The *por1* $\Delta$  mutant strain showed a decreased growth in comparison with wt, as expected, since lack of Por1p reduces mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) permeability to respiratory substrates (107). In the absence of Por1p, both *hog1* $\Delta$  and *rim15* $\Delta$  mutants exhibit comparable growth to wt in glycerol, indicating this effect is independent of Por1p.

Because respiratory activity correlates with VDAC1 opening *in vivo*, oxygen consumption rate (OCR) in whole cells grown to log and PDS phases was assessed. The OCR during log phase of single and double mutants was not significantly different from wt (Fig. 11A). OCR was evaluated at this early growth phase, in which cells are still

fermenting because we were expecting a catabolite de-repression and thus an increase in OCR for the *HOG1*-deleted mutant, as described (108), but that was not verified in our working conditions. Though there is a tendency for a higher OCR, it was not statistically significant.



**Figure 11: Determination of oxygen consumption rate:** Oxygen consumption rate was measured in BY4741(wt), *por1* $\Delta$ , *rim15* $\Delta$ , *hog1* $\Delta$ , *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$  and *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$  strains grown to (A) at mid-log and (B) post-diauxic phase. Values are mean ± SD (n=3); \*\**p* < 0.01 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ ) \**p* < 0.1 (wt vs *hog1* $\Delta$ ), \**p* < 0.1 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), \**p* < 0.1 (wt vs *rim15* $\Delta$ ), \*\*\*\**p* < 0.001 (Wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$ ).

In PDS phase, OCR increased comparing to log phase for the wt strain, but not for *por1* $\Delta$  cells, as expected, due to the role of Por1p in mitochondrial respiration (109). We observed a similar increase of OCR in *hog1* $\Delta$  mutant, indicating Hog1p does not play a significant role on mitochondrial respiration. Because Por1p is important for OCR, it also suggests Hog1p does not play a significant role in possible Por1p opening. For *rim15* $\Delta$ , there was a significant increase in OCR at PDS phase, comparing to the wt, as expected, since Rim15p is reported to play an important role in the suppression of mitochondrial respiration (110). However, OCR in *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$  cells was similar to *por1* $\Delta$  single mutants, indicating that the increase of OCR in *RIM15* deleted cells is Por1p-dependent and, therefore, Rim15p may play a role in regulating Por1p channel activity (Fig. 11B).

#### 4.3.3 Autophagy and mitophagy induction

Because mitochondrial function and both Rim15p and Hog1p play a role in autophagy and mitophagy regulation (84,11,12,111), autophagy induction during stationary phase was also analysed since autophagy regulation is crucial for maintaining normal cell functions and also promoting cell survivability (112,113).

ATG8 has been identified as one of the autophagic genes at the base of the autophagosome assembly, from the pre-autophagosome formation until its delivery to the vacuole (114). Atg8p is an ubiquitin-like protein that is part of the autophagosomal structure, being cleaved by Atq4p, essential for the biogenesis of the autophagosome. Atg8p is also present during the course of the whole autophagic process, designated for autophagy flux, or the process that leads from the autophagosome formation and maturation, the autolysome formation and later degradation (115). Thus, autophagy can be assessed in cells expressing a fusion of GFP-Atg8. This autophagosome, that contains the cargo, is transported to the vacuole (yeast lysosome), where it suffers degradation by vacuolar hydrolases. In the end, the resulting products of degradation are released back to the cytosol for recycling. GFP is fused in the N-terminal of Atg8p and is resistant to the vacuolar degradation, unlike Atg8p, as such, when the autophagosome is delivered to the vacuole it will result in free GFP in the vacuolar lumen and detection of free GFP can be used as a measure of autophagy flux (115,116). It is known that autophagy can be regulated at the transcriptional level through ATG8 induction, which can be monitored by quantifying total GFP (GFP-Atg8 + free GFP), and at the flux level, assessed by monitoring Atg8p degradation levels (ratio of free GFP over total GFP).

Using this assay, we observed an induction of autophagy in wt cells grown to stationary phase (Fig. 12A; quantification in 12B-C), as expected. In the *por1* $\Delta$  mutant, it was observed a strong suppression of autophagy induction (but not flux) (Fig 12). According to literature (117), impaired mitochondrial function may result in low autophagy induction and flux, which might explain the results in *por1* $\Delta$  strain (Fig. 12B-C). The *rim15* $\Delta$  mutant strain also showed low levels (suppression) of autophagy induction (Fig.12B). This result is consistent with reports stating that Rim15p upregulates

autophagy in starvation conditions (92,11), which in turn promotes degradation and recycling of cytoplasmic components for ATP recovery and cell survival. The autophagic flux also decreased in *rim15* $\Delta$  mutants, although not leading to suppression (Fig. 12C). This might be due to the regulation exerted by Rim15p in the process of autophagy flux, where its role is still not well defined (94,11). The double mutant strain por1 $\Delta$ rim15 $\Delta$ showed a recovery in both autophagy induction and flux (Fig. 12B-C), suggesting that the presence of both Por1p and Rim15p is important for normal regulation of autophagy and there might be a compensatory mechanism in the absence of these two proteins. The  $hog1\Delta$  mutant strain showed low levels of Atg8p, indicating defects in autophagy induction. Hog1p has been described as participating in the phosphorylation and stabilization of Atg8p, collaborating in the formation of autophagosomes (118,119), hence, being a crucial protein kinase in the regulation of autophagy. Our results corroborate this fact (Fig. 12B). In contrast, the autophagic flux was not affected in the  $hog1\Delta$  mutant strain, suggesting that Hog1p is not relevant for the degradation process (Fig. 12C). The por1 $\Delta$  hog1 $\Delta$  mutant strain showed a severe reduction in autophagic induction, accumulating the negative interaction of the absence of both Por1p and Hog1p. In contrast, the autophagic flux was similar to that of both por1 $\Delta$  and hog1 $\Delta$ mutant strains, indicating that both mutants may be reducing the autophagyc flucx by affecting the same process.



**Fig.12:** Analysis of autophagy induction and flux: (A) GFP-Atg8 immunoblots of cells grown in YPD, harvested 3 days after PDS phase. (B) The autophagy induction was calculated by the ratio between the sum of free GFP and GFP-Atg8p signals and Pgk1 (loading control). Values are mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3); \**p* < 0.1 (wt vs *por1*Δ) \**p* < 0.1 (wt vs *rim15*Δ) \**p* < 0.1 (wt vs *hog1*Δ), one-way ANOVA. (C) The autophagic flux was calculated as the ratio between the free GFP signal and the sum of free GFP and GFP-Atg8p signals. Values are mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3) \**p* < 0.1 (wt vs *rim15*Δ) \*\*\*\**p* < 0.001 (wt vs *hog1*Δ), one-way ANOVA.

Accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria can lead to a compromised cell growth and even cell death (10). An effective way to control this accumulation and ensure quality control over mitochondria is mitophagy, a type of selective autophagy, where severely damaged mitochondria are eliminated.

Mitophagy was analysed using an assay similar to the used for autophagy, except that a mitochondrial outer membrane protein (OM45) (12) fused to GFP was used as a reporter of mitochondrial degradation, and mitophagy induction was estimated by measuring the ratio of free GFP (reflecting degraded OM45) over total GFP.

It was observed an induction of mitophagy in wt cells grown to stationary phase (Fig. 13), as expected. In the *por1* $\Delta$  mutant strain, though not significantly, an increased induction of mitophagy was observed (Fig. 13). This increase may suggest that the lack of Por1p compromises the normal mitochondrial function, since ATP/ADP flow is affected, although there may be compensatory proteins that promote cell survival (Fig. 13). The *rim15* $\Delta$  mutant strain showed similar level of mitophagy induction when compared to wt (Fig. 13). Rim15p is indeed important for non-selective autophagy regulation but there are no reports implicating Rim15p role in mitophagy, although it is known that, indirectly, it may promote mitophagy induction factors (120). The  $por1\Delta rim15\Delta$  double mutant showed a major decrease in mitophagy induction (Fig.13), compared both to wt and por1 $\Delta$  mutant strain, indicating Rim15p is involved in por1 $\Delta$ mitophagy induction. In  $hog1\Delta$  mutants, it was expected a low level of mitophagy induction, since some reports state that Hog1p is an important mitophagy regulator. The absence of Hog1p leads to a suppression of CK2-dependent Atg32p phosphorylation, which is required for mitophagy induction (84,12). The double mutant por1 $\Delta$ hog1 $\Delta$  also showed a low level of mitophagy induction, compared to both wt and *por1* $\Delta$  mutant cells, which might indicate, as with  $por1\Delta rim15\Delta$  mutant strain, a negative interaction for this phenotype (Fig. 13). These results suggest that  $por1\Delta$ -induced mitophagy is dependent of the presence of Rim15p and Hog1p, though this effect may be direct or not.



**Fig.13: Analysis of mitophagy induction:** (A) OM45-GFP immunoblots of cells grown in YPD, harvested 3 days post-PDS phase. (B) The mitophagy induction was calculated by the ratio between the free GFP and the sum of free GFP and OM45-GFP signals (Free GFP/total GFP), using a Ponceau stained membrane as a loading control. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3)), p < 0.1 (*por1* $\Delta$  vs *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$ ), one-way ANOVA.

#### 4.3.4 Stress resistance

Because Por1p affects heat sensitivity (121), the response of the mutants under study to elevated temperatures was evaluated by growing the cells in YPD solid media at 37°C. It was observed that cells lacking Por1p showed a strong growth defect at 37°C (Fig. 14), corroborating the described role of Por1p as an important protein in thermoresistance. Since loss of Por1p leads to a decrease of MOM permeability, the low exchange of metabolites compromise mitochondrial functions leading to an increased

stress sensitivity. Though Rim15p and Hog1p are important regulators of cellular responses to osmotic stress, oxidative stress or others (110), our results suggest that these kinases do not exert an important role at 37°C, since both *hog1* $\Delta$  and *rim15* $\Delta$  mutants showed no differences in growth. The double mutants *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$  and *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$  exhibited a phenotype similar to *por1* $\Delta$  single mutants, indicating no interaction between these proteins regarding growth at 37°C.



**Figure 14: Growth assessment with heat shock:** wt yeast (BY4741), the kinase-deleted strains ( $hog1\Delta$ ,  $rim15\Delta$ ) and  $por1\Delta$  mutant strain, and both double mutants ( $por1\Delta rim15\Delta$ ,  $por1\Delta hog1\Delta$ ) were spotted in a ten-fold dilution series, on glucose-based medium and incubated at the indicated temperatures: room temperature (26°C) and 37°C.

The strains were also assayed regarding their resistance to  $H_2O_2$ , an oxidative stress inducer. The mutant *por1* $\Delta$  was sensitive to  $H_2O_2$  comparing with wt (Fig. 15), as reported before (41). The *hog1* $\Delta$  mutant also exhibited a decreased resistance to  $H_2O_2$ , (Fig. 15) that was not increased by the deletion of *POR1*, suggesting these proteins may be in the same pathway concerning stress resistance. *RIM15*-deleted mutant also showed high sensitivity to  $H_2O_2$ , indicating an important role for this kinase in stress resistance (Fig.15). This sensitivity was increased by the additional deletion of *POR1* suggesting Rim15p and Por1p may be in parallel pathways concerning stress resistance.



**Figure 15: Survival of wt and mutant strains to H**<sub>2</sub>**O**<sub>2</sub> **treatment:** Cells were grown to PDS phase and treated with H<sub>2</sub>**O**<sub>2</sub> (100 mM, 1h) and viability assessed by CFU count. Values are mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3). \* p < 0.05 (wt vs *hog1* $\Delta$ ; wt vs *rim15* $\Delta$ ; wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *hog1* $\Delta$ ), \*\* p < 0.01 (wt vs *por1* $\Delta$ *rim15* $\Delta$ ), one-way ANOVA.

Chapter 5

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) is a mitochondrial protein with an essential role in the mitochondrial metabolism. In mammalian cells, it is known that VDAC can be regulated by post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation and some regulatory kinases have been identified. Yet, in yeast though VDAC/Por1p is reported as phosphorylated, the role of these modifications and its regulatory kinases are unknown. As such, this dissertation aimed to identify Por1p regulatory kinases. For that, 15 kinase-deleted mutants (selected based on kinase function or mitochondrial location) were screened for alterations in Por1p pl by 2D immunoblot. Two Ser/Thr protein kinases, Rim15p and Hog1p, were identified to cause alterations in Por1p pl when deleted. The assessment of genetic interactions between these kinases and Por1p support that a functional relationship may exist between these proteins. It was observed that deletion of *HOG1* interferes with *por1*Δ growth in fermentative conditions, mitochondrial oxygen consumption, autophagy flux and induction and mitophagy induction.

Taking in account that both kinases affect Por1p pl and they exhibit genetic interaction with Por1p, our data suggests that these kinases may be Por1p regulators. If the identified kinase directly regulates Por1p, they likely phosphorylate different Por1p residues because some of the phenotypes affected are different. While in mammals VDAC phosphorylation has been associated mainly to apoptosis induction, the distinct phenotypes affected by lack of VDAC1/Por1p in yeast suggest regulation of this channel may impact additional cellular processes, such as autophagy and mitophagy induction, also critical for cell survival. Rim15p has no close homologue in mammals, but Hog1p has two homologues in mammals (p38/JNK) that have been implicated in VDAC1 regulation, suggesting VDAC1 regulation by Hog1p may be conserved.

To confirm that Hog1p and Rim15p directly interact and phosphorylate Por1p, coimmunoprecipitation and *in vitro* kinase assays should be performed. In future work, Por1p MS/MS analysis should be repeated, to identify the Por1p phosphorylated residues by the kinases Hog1p and Rim15p. With that knowledge, it will be possible to study the physiological role of Por1p phosphorylation by mutating the individual residues into nonphosphorylatable (alanine) or phosphomimetic (aspartic acid) versions. Through the evaluation of mitochondrial function, membrane potential, communication cellmitochondria and even apoptotic activity will also be crucial to better understand the level of Por1p regulation possibly promoted by these potential regulatory kinases. Por1p plays a central role in mitochondrial metabolism affecting crucial processes as proliferation, and oxidative stress resistance. Because VDAC is conserved, identifying its regulatory kinases can provide new pharmaceutical targets for treatment of human diseases such as cancer and Alzheimer's disease in which VDAC1 activity has been implicated (43,52,53). BIBLIOGRAPHY

#### 6. **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- 1. Karnkowska A, Vacek V, Zubáčová Z, Treitli SC, Petrželková R, Eme L, et al. A Eukaryote without a Mitochondrial Organelle. Curr Biol. 2016;
- 2. Gray MW. Mitochondrial evolution. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;
- 3. REID RA, MOYLE J, MITCHELL P. Synthesis of Adenosine Triphosphate by a Protonmotive Force in Rat Liver Mitochondria. Nature. 1966;
- Marcu R, Wiczer BM, Neeley CK, Hawkins BJ. Mitochondrial matrix Ca<sup>2+</sup> accumulation regulates cytosolic NAD<sup>+</sup>/NADH metabolism, protein acetylation, and sirtuin expression. Mol Cell Biol. 2014;
- Ott M, Gogvadze V, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B. Mitochondria, oxidative stress and cell death. Apoptosis. 2007;
- Tompkins AJ, Burwell LS, Digerness SB, Zaragoza C, Holman WL, Brookes PS. Mitochondrial dysfunction in cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury: ROS from complex I, without inhibition. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis. 2006;
- 7. Yun J, Finkel T. Mitohormesis. Cell Metab. 2014;
- Dominy JE, Puigserver P. Mitochondrial biogenesis through activation of nuclear signaling proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2013;
- Klionsky DJ, Emr SD. Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. Science. 2000;
- Bhatia-Kiššová I, Camougrand N. Mitophagy is not induced by mitochondrial damage but plays a role in the regulation of cellular autophagic activity. Autophagy. 2013;
- Klionsky DJ. The Ume6-Sin3-Rpd3 complex regulates ATG8 transcription to control autophagosome size. Autophagy Autophagy Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1835;
- Kanki T, Furukawa K, Yamashita S ichi. Mitophagy in yeast: Molecular mechanisms and physiological role. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Res. 2015;
- Saks V, Guzun R, Timohhina N, Tepp K, Varikmaa M, Monge C, et al. Structure–function relationships in feedback regulation of energy fluxes in vivo in health and disease: Mitochondrial Interactosome. Biochim Biophys Acta -Bioenerg. 2010;

- Anesti V, Scorrano L. The relationship between mitochondrial shape and function and the cytoskeleton. Biochim Biophys Acta - Bioenerg. 2006;
- Karbowski M, Spodnik JH, Teranishi M, Wozniak M, Nishizawa Y, Usukura J, et al. Opposite effects of microtubule-stabilizing and microtubule-destabilizing drugs on biogenesis of mitochondria in mammalian cells. J Cell Sci. 2001;
- Colombini M, Blachly-Dyson E, Forte M. VDAC, a channel in the outer mitochondrial membrane. Ion channels, Plenum Press. 1996;
- Vander Heiden MG, Chandel NS, Li XX, Schumacker PT, Colombini M, Thompson CB. Outer mitochondrial membrane permeability can regulate coupled respiration and cell survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;
- Rostovtseva T, Colombini M. ATP flux is controlled by a voltage-gated channel from the mitochondrial outer membrane. J Biol Chem. 1996;
- Burdman S, De Mot R, Vanderleyden J, Okon Y, Jurkevitch E. Identification and characterization of the omaA gene encoding the major outer membrane protein of Azospirillum brasilense. DNA Seq. 2000;
- 20. Colombini M. VDAC: the channel at the interface between mitochondria and the cytosol. Mol Cell Biochem.
- Cesar MDC, Wilson JE. All three isoforms of the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC1, VDAC2, and VDAC3) are present in mitochondria from bovine, rabbit, and rat brain. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2004;
- 22. Sampson MJ. The Murine Voltage-dependent Anion Channel Gene Family. CONSERVED STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION. J Biol Chem. 1997;
- Blachly-Dyson E, Song J, Wolfgang WJ, Colombini M, Forte M. Multicopy suppressors of phenotypes resulting from the absence of yeast VDAC encode a VDAC-like protein. Mol Cell Biol. 1997;
- 24. Mazure NM. VDAC in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Bioenerg. 2017;
- 25. Shoshan-Barmatz V, Mizrachi D. VDAC1: from structure to cancer therapy. Front Oncol. 2012;
- Colombini M, Sonveaux P, Maechler P, Martinou J-C. The VDAC channel: Molecular basis for selectivity ☆. 2016;
- 27. Shuvo SR, Ferens FG, Court DA. The N-terminus of VDAC: Structure, mutational analysis, and a potential role in regulating barrel shape. 2016;

- Rostovtseva TK, Komarov A, Bezrukov SM, Colombini M. VDAC Channels Differentiate between Natural Metabolites and Synthetic Molecules. J Membr Biol. 2002;
- Thomas L, Blachly-Dyson E, Colombini M, Forte M. Mapping of residues forming the voltage sensor of the voltage-dependent anion-selective channel. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;
- 30. Tan W, Colombini M. VDAC closure increases calcium ion flux.
- Lemasters JJ, Holmuhamedov E. Voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) as mitochondrial governator—Thinking outside the box. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis. 2006;
- Shoshan-Barmatz V, Gincel D. The voltage-dependent anion channel: characterization, modulation, and role in mitochondrial function in cell life and death. Cell Biochem Biophys. 2003;
- Galganska H, Budzinska M, Wojtkowska M, Kmita H. Redox regulation of protein expression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae mitochondria: Possible role of VDAC. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2008;
- Karachitos A, Galganska H, Wojtkowska M, Budzinska M, Stobienia O, Bartosz G, et al. Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase is necessary for proper function of VDAC in Saccharomyces cerevisiae cells. FEBS Lett. 2009;
- 35. Gałgańska H, Antoniewicz M, Budzińska M, Gałgański Ł, Kmita H. VDAC contributes to mRNA levels in Saccharomyces cerevisiae cells by the intracellular reduction/oxidation state dependent and independent mechanisms. J Bioenerg Biomembr. 2010;
- Han D, Antunes F, Canali R, Rettori D, Cadenas E. Voltage-dependent anion channels control the release of the superoxide anion from mitochondria to cytosol. J Biol Chem. 2003;
- Tikunov A, Johnson CB, Pediaditakis P, Markevich N, Macdonald JM, Lemasters JJ, et al. Closure of VDAC causes oxidative stress and accelerates the Ca 2+ induced mitochondrial permeability transition in rat liver mitochondria. 2010;
- Crespo JL, Powers T, Fowler B, Hall MN. The TOR-controlled transcription activators GLN3, RTG1, and RTG3 are regulated in response to intracellular levels of glutamine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;
- 39. Butow RA, Avadhani NG. Mitochondrial Signaling. Mol Cell. 2004;

- 40. Martinou JC, Desagher S, Antonsson B. Cytochrome c release from mitochondria: all or nothing. Nat Cell Biol. 2000;
- Pereira C, Camougrand N, Manon S, Sousa MJ, Côrte-Real M. ADP/ATP carrier is required for mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and cytochrome c release in yeast apoptosis. Mol Microbiol. 2007;
- 42. Suh DH, Kim M-K, Kim HS, Chung HH, Song YS, Brenner C, et al. Mitochondrial permeability transition pore as a selective target for anti-cancer therapy. 2013;
- 43. Shoshan-Barmatz V, Ben-Hail D. VDAC, a multi-functional mitochondrial protein as a pharmacological target. Vol. 12, Mitochondrion. 2012.
- 44. Duan G, Walther D. The roles of post-translational modifications in the context of protein interaction networks. PLoS Comput Biol. 2015;
- Johnson LN. The regulation of protein phosphorylation. Biochem Soc Trans. 2009;
- Trager JB, Martin GS. The role of the Src homology-2 domain in the lethal effect of Src expression in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 1997;
- 47. Francesconi SC, Eisenberg S. The multifunctional protein OBF1 is phosphorylated at serine and threonine residues in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.
   Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;
- Xiao CY, Hübner S, Elliot RM, Caon A, Jans DA. A consensus cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PK-A) site in place of the CcN motif casein kinase II site simian virus 40 large T-antigen confers PK-A-mediated regulation of nuclear import. J Biol Chem. 1996;
- 49. Humphrey SJ, James DE, Mann M. Protein Phosphorylation: A Major Switch Mechanism for Metabolic Regulation. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2015;
- 50. Bera AK, Ghosh S. Dual Mode of Gating of Voltage-Dependent Anion Channel as Revealed by Phosphorylation. J Struct Biol. 2001;
- 51. Rostovtseva TK, Bezrukov SM. VDAC inhibition by tubulin and its physiological implications. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr. 2012;
- 52. Herrera JL, Fernandez C, Diaz M, Cury D, Marin R. Estradiol and tamoxifen differentially regulate a plasmalemmal voltage-dependent anion channel involved in amyloid-beta induced neurotoxicity. Steroids. 2011;
- 53. Sheldon KL, Maldonado EN, Lemasters JJ, Rostovtseva TK, Bezrukov SM.

Phosphorylation of voltage-dependent anion channel by serine/threonine kinases governs its interaction with tubulin. PLoS One. 2011;

- Sheldon KL, Gurnev PA, Bezrukov SM, Sackett DL. Tubulin Tail Sequences and Post-translational Modifications Regulate Closure of Mitochondrial Voltagedependent Anion Channel (VDAC) \*. Publ JBC Pap Press. 2015;
- Shoshan-Barmatz V, Zakar M, Rosenthal K, Abu-Hamad S. Key regions of VDAC1 functioning in apoptosis induction and regulation by hexokinase. Biochim Biophys Acta - Bioenerg. 2009;
- 56. Chen Y, Craigen WJ, Riley DJ. Nek1 regulates cell death and mitochondrial membrane permeability through phosphorylation of VDAC1. Cell Cycle. 2009;
- Sheldon KL, Maldonado EN, Lemasters JJ, Rostovtseva TK, Bezrukov SM. Phosphorylation of Voltage-Dependent Anion Channel by Serine/Threonine Kinases Governs Its Interaction with Tubulin. 2011;
- Pastorino JG, Hoek JB. Regulation of hexokinase binding to VDAC. J Bioenerg Biomembr. 2008;
- Sun L, Shukair S, Naik TJ, Moazed F, Ardehali H. Glucose Phosphorylation and Mitochondrial Binding Are Required for the Protective Effects of Hexokinases I and II. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;
- Azarashvili TS, Odinokova I V., Krestinina O V., Baburina YL, Grachev DE, Teplova V V., et al. Role of phosphorylation of porin (VDAC) in regulation of mitochondrial outer membrane under normal conditions and alcohol intoxication. Biochem Suppl Ser A Membr Cell Biol. 2011;
- Gupta R, Ghosh S. Phosphorylation of purified mitochondrial Voltage-Dependent Anion Channel by c-Jun N-terminal Kinase-3 modifies channel voltagedependence. 2017;
- 62. Martel C, Wang Z, Brenner C. VDAC phosphorylation, a lipid sensor influencing the cell fate. Mitochondrion. 2014;
- Sun L, Shukair S, Naik TJ, Moazed F, Ardehali H. Glucose phosphorylation and mitochondrial binding are required for the protective effects of hexokinases I and II. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;
- Javadov S, Rajapurohitam V, Kilić A, Zeidan A, Choi A, Karmazyn M. Antihypertrophic effect of NHE-1 inhibition involves GSK-3beta-dependent attenuation of mitochondrial dysfunction. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2009;

- 65. Herrera JL, Diaz M, Hernández-Fernaud JR, Salido E, Alonso R, Fernández C, et al. Voltage-dependent anion channel as a resident protein of lipid rafts: Posttransductional regulation by estrogens and involvement in neuronal preservation against Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem. 2011;
- Quan Z, Cao L, Tang Y, Yan Y, Oliver SG, Zhang N. The Yeast GSK-3 Homologue Mck1 Is a Key Controller of Quiescence Entry and Chronological Lifespan. PLoS Genet. 2015;
- Andoh T, Hirata Y, Kikuchi A. Yeast glycogen synthase kinase 3 is involved in protein degradation in cooperation with Bul1, Bul2, and Rsp5. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;
- Böhm M, Gamulin V, Schröder HC, Müller WE. Evolution of osmosensing signal transduction in Metazoa: Stress-activated protein kinases p38 and JNK. Cell Tissue Res. 2002;
- Pautasso C, Reca S, Chatfield-Reed K, Chua G, Galello F, Portela P, et al. Identification of novel transcriptional regulators of PKA subunits in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by quantitative promoter-reporter screening. FEMS Yeast Res. 2016;
- Barbosa AD, Graça J, Mendes V, Chaves SR, Amorim MA, Mendes MV, et al. Activation of the Hog1p kinase in Isc1p-deficient yeast cells is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress sensitivity and premature aging. Mech Ageing Dev. 2012;
- Jay L. Brewster, Tamsen de Valoir NDD, Edward Winter MCG. An osmosensing signal transduction pathway in Yeast. Science (80-). 1993;
- Clotet J, Posas F. Control of cell cycle in response to osmostress: lessons from yeast. Methods Enzymol. 2007;
- Saito H, Posas F, Horecka J, DePinho RA, Sprague GF, Tyers M, et al. Response to hyperosmotic stress. Genetics. 2012;
- Chowdhury S, Smith KW, Gustin MC. Osmotic stress and the yeast cytoskeleton: phenotype-specific suppression of an actin mutation. J Cell Biol. 1992;
- 75. Rep M, Proft M, Remize F, Tamás M, Serrano R, Thevelein JM, et al. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae Sko1p transcription factor mediates HOG pathwaydependent osmotic regulation of a set of genes encoding enzymes implicated in protection from oxidative damage. Mol Microbiol. 2001;

- 76. de Nadal E, Alepuz PM, Posas F. Dealing with osmostress through MAP kinase activation. EMBO Rep. 2002;
- Alepuz PM, de Nadal E, Zapater M, Ammerer G, Posas F. Osmostress-induced transcription by Hot1 depends on a Hog1-mediated recruitment of the RNA Pol II. EMBO J. 2003;
- Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiol Rev. 2001;
- 79. Proft M, Mas G, de Nadal E, Vendrell A, Noriega N, Struhl K, et al. The stressactivated Hog1 kinase is a selective transcriptional elongation factor for genes responding to osmotic stress. Mol Cell. 2006;
- Kapteyn JC, ter Riet B, Vink E, Blad S, De Nobel H, Van Den Ende H, et al. Low external pH induces HOG1-dependent changes in the organization of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae cell wall. Mol Microbiol. 2001;
- Hayashi M, Maeda T. Activation of the HOG Pathway upon Cold Stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biochem. 2006;
- Alonso-Monge R, Carvaihlo S, Nombela C, Rial E, Pla J. The Hog1 MAP kinase controls respiratory metabolism in the fungal pathogen Candida albicans. Microbiology. 2009;
- Mao K, Klionsky DJ. MAPKs regulate mitophagy in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Autophagy. 2011;
- 84. Mao K, Wang K, Zhao M, Xu T, Klionsky DJ. Two MAPK-signaling pathways are required for mitophagy in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Cell Biol. 2011;
- 85. Saito H, Posas F. Response to Hyperosmotic Stress. Genetics. 2012;
- Cameroni E, Hulo N, Roosen J, Winderickx J, De Virgilio C. The novel yeast PAS kinase Rim15 orchestrates G0-associated antioxidant defense mechanisms. 2004;
- Swinnen E, Wanke V, Roosen J, Smets B, Dubouloz F, Pedruzzi I, et al. Rim15 and the crossroads of nutrient signalling pathways in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Cell Div. 2006;
- Galdieri L, Mehrotra S, Yu S, Vancura A. Transcriptional Regulation in Yeast during Diauxic Shift and Stationary Phase. Omi A J Integr Biol. 2010;
- 89. Swinnen E, Wanke V, Roosen J, Smets B, Dubouloz F, Pedruzzi I, et al. Rim15 and the crossroads of nutrient signalling pathways in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.

Cell Div. 2006;

- Bisschops MMM, Zwartjens P, Keuter SGF, Pronk JT, Daran-Lapujade P. To divide or not to divide: A key role of Rim15 in calorie-restricted yeast cultures. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Res. 2014;
- Wei M, Fabrizio P, Hu J, Ge H, Cheng C, Li L, et al. Life span extension by calorie restriction depends on Rim15 and transcription factors downstream of Ras/PKA, Tor, and Sch9. PLoS Genet. 2008;
- 92. Waliullah TM, Yeasmin AM, Kaneko A, Koike N, Terasawa M, Totsuka T, et al. Rim15 and Sch9 kinases are involved in induction of autophagic degradation of ribosomes in budding yeast.
- 93. Watanabe D, Araki Y, Zhou Y, Maeya N, Akao T, Shimoi H. A Loss-of-Function Mutation in the PAS Kinase Rim15p Is Related to Defective Quiescence Entry and High Fermentation Rates of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Sake Yeast Strains.
- Yorimitsu T, Zaman S, Broach JR, Klionsky DJ. Protein Kinase A and Sch9 Cooperatively Regulate Induction of Autophagy in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Biol Cell. 2007;
- 95. Kanki T, Kang D, Klionsky DJ. Monitoring mitophagy in yeast: the Om45-GFP processing assay. Autophagy. 2009;
- Gietz RD, Schiestl RH. High-efficiency yeast transformation using the LiAc/SS carrier DNA/PEG method. Nat Protoc. 2007;
- Lange H, Kispal G, Lill R. Mechanism of iron transport to the site of heme synthesis inside yeast mitochondria. J Biol Chem. 1999;
- Ohlmeier S, Hiltunen JK, Bergmann U. Protein phosphorylation in mitochondria -A study on fermentative and respiratory growth of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Electrophoresis. 2010;
- Tomaska L. Mitochondrial protein phosphorylation: Lessons from yeasts. Gene.
   2000;
- 100. Pedruzzi I, Dé Rique Dubouloz F, Cameroni E, Wanke V, Roosen J, Winderickx J, et al. Short Article TOR and PKA Signaling Pathways Converge on the Protein Kinase Rim15 to Control Entry into G 0 pression of Pol II transcription (and other G 0 -associated changes) remain still elusive. The PKA pathway constitutes another key signaling pathway that controls growth of proliferating yeast in response to nutrients. The mechanism by which PKA. Mol Cell. 2003;

- POR1 (YNL055C) Result Summary | BioGRID [Internet]. [cited 2017 Sep 28].
   Available from: https://thebiogrid.org/35766/protein
- 102. Mani R, StOnge RP, Hartman IV JL, Giaever G, Roth FP. Defining genetic interaction.
- 103. Dihanich M, Suda K, Schatz Biocenter G, Schatz G. A yeast mutant lacking mitochondrial porin is respiratory-deficient, but can recover respiration with simultaneous accumulation of an 86-kd extramitochondrial protein. EMBO J. 1987;
- Lee AC, Xu X, Blachly-Dyson E, Forte M, Colombini M. The role of yeast VDAC genes on the permeability of the mitochondrial outer membrane. J Membr Biol. 1998;
- 105. Strogolova V, Orlova M, Shevade A, Kuchin S. Mitochondrial porin Por1 and its homolog Por2 contribute to the positive control of Snf1 protein kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryot Cell. 2012;
- 106. Pan Y, Schroeder EA, Ocampo A, Barrientos A, Shadel GS. Regulation of yeast chronological life span by TORC1 via adaptive mitochondrial ROS signaling. Cell Metab. 2011;
- 107. Kanprasoet W, Jensen LT, Sriprach S, Thitiananpakorn K, Rattanapornsompong K, Jensen AN. Deletion of Mitochondrial Porin Alleviates Stress Sensitivity in the Yeast Model of Shwachman-Diamond Syndrome. J Genet Genomics. 2015;
- 108. Vendrell A, Martínez-Pastor M, González-Novo A, Pascual-Ahuir A, Sinclair DA, Proft M, et al. Sir2 histone deacetylase prevents programmed cell death caused by sustained activation of the Hog1 stress-activated protein kinase. EMBO Rep. 2011;
- Blachly-Dyson E, Song J, Wolfgang WJ, Colombini M, Forte M. Multicopy suppressors of phenotypes resulting from the absence of yeast VDAC encode a VDAC-like protein. Mol Cell Biol. 1997;
- Zhang N, Wu J, Oliver SG. Gis1 is required for transcriptional reprogramming of carbon metabolism and the stress response during Transition into stationary phase in yeast. Microbiology. 2009;
- Yoshii SR, Mizushima N. Monitoring and measuring autophagy. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;
- 112. Torggler R, Papinski D, Kraft C. Assays to Monitor Autophagy in Saccharomyces

cerevisiae. Cells. 2017;

- Cebollero E, Reggiori F. Regulation of autophagy in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. BBA - Mol Cell Res. 2009;
- 114. Kirisako T, Baba M, Ishihara N, Miyazawa K, Ohsumi M, Yoshimori T, et al. Formation process of autophagosome is traced with Apg8/Aut7p in yeast. J Cell Biol. 1999;
- 115. Zhang X, Chen S, Huang K, Le W. Why should autophagic flux be assessed? Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2013;
- 116. Ohsumi Y, Ichimura Y, Kirisako T, Takao T, Satomi Y, Shimonishi Y, et al. A ubiquitin-like system mediates protein lipidation. Nature. 2000;
- 117. Graef M, Nunnari J. Mitochondria regulate autophagy by conserved signalling pathways. EMBO J. 2011;
- Bicknell AA, Tourtellotte J, Niwa M. Late Phase of the Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Response Pathway Is Regulated by Hog1 MAP Kinase \*. 2010;
- Ang J, Ang J. The Role of Hog1 and its Regulators in Genotoxin-induced Targeted Autophagy by Copyright by.
- 120. Devenish RJ, Prescott M. Autophagy: Starvation relieves transcriptional repression of ATG genes. Curr Biol. 2015;
- 121. Sinha H, David L, Pascon RC, Clauder-Münster S, Krishnakumar S, Nguyen M, et al. Sequential elimination of major-effect contributors identifies additional quantitative trait loci conditioning high-temperature growth in yeast. Genetics. 2008;

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

### 7. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL



#### Analysis of Por1p pl in cells at different growth phases





### Analysis of Por1p pl in different kinase-deleted strains





